FILED

05/15/2023

Bowen Greenwood CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF MONTANA

Case Number: DA 23-0094

CINDY FUSON,

Plaintiff/Appellant,

v.

CHS INC., and DOES 1-5,

Defendant/Appellee.

Appeal from the Ninth Judicial District Court, Toole County Cause No. DV-18-044 The Honorable Robert Olson, Presiding

APPELLANT CINDY FUSON'S OPENING BRIEF

Torrance L. Coburn Tipp Coburn & Associates PC 2200 Brooks Street P.O. Box 3778 Missoula, MT 59806-3778 406.549-5186 torrance@tcsattorneys.com

Attorney for Appellant Cindy Fuson John G. Crist Crist, Krogh, Butler & Nord, LLC The Securities Building 2708 First Ave. N, Suite 300 Billings, MT 59101 406.255.0400 jcrist@cristlaw.com

ISSUES ON APPEAL

- Did the District Court err in granting CHS, Inc. ("CHS") summary judgment dismissing Fuson's disability discrimination claim, holding that Fuson could not establish that she was an otherwise qualified individual under the Americans with Disabilities Act ("ADA") and the Montana Human Rights Act ("MHRA")?
- 2. Did the District Court err in granting CHS summary judgment dismissing Fuson's wrongful discharge and implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing claims, holding that they were barred by the exclusivity provisions of the Montana Human Rights Act?
- 3. Did the District Court err in granting CHS summary judgment dismissing Fuson's gender discrimination claim, holding that it was time-barred?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case arises out of Fuson's complaint alleging both violations of antidiscrimination laws as well as Montana's Wrongful Discharge from Employment Act in relation to CHS's actions during Fuson's employment with CHS, and CHS's termination of her employment (Appendix 2, *Complaint and Jury Demand*, Dkt. 1). On August 8, 2022, CHS filed a *Motion for Summary Judgment* seeking dismissal of Fuson's disability discrimination claim, gender discrimination claim, and her wrongful discharge and implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing claims. (Dkt. 28). The District Court entered its *Order Granting CHS's Motion for Summary Judgment and Judgment* on January 6, 2023, thereby dismissing Fuson's case, and all claims therein, with prejudice. (Appendix 1, Dkt. 50). Fuson timely filed her *Notice of Appeal* of the District Court's *Order* with this Court on February 6, 2023.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

During her employment with CHS, Fuson worked as a driver/gauger. (Appendix 3, Deposition of Fuson, 12:25-13:2, attached to *Plaintiff's Response Brief in Opposition to Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment* (Dkt. 39)). As a driver/gauger, Fuson was required to have a commercial driver's license ("CDL"), and a DOT medical certification which had to be renewed every two years. (Appendix 3, 14:4-20).

From December 14, 2016 through June 15, 2017, Fuson was on short-term disability leave. (Appendix 3, 22:2-9). On June 26, 2017, Fuson saw Physician's Assistant Christopher Rost and attempted to renew her DOT medical certification; however, Rost declined to renew her medical certification. (Appendix 3, 61:16-63:22). Upon the behest of CHS and its personnel, and with the understanding that it was required of her, Fuson also applied for long-term disability leave in mid-July

2017, despite her desire to return to work. (Appendix 3, 22:10-18, 65:22-66:3; 71:8-17).

After her unsuccessful attempt to renew her medical certification, Fuson was encouraged by CHS supervisor Craig Fish to get a second opinion and attempt to receive the renewal from a different provider. (Appendix 3, 65:16-21). Fish also informed Fuson that CHS did not require or rely solely on opinions provided by Mr. Rost. (*Id*).

Following Fish's advice, Fuson sought a second opinion and medical review, and on July 17, 2017, Fuson received a renewal of her DOT medical certification from Physician's Assistant Robert Babbitt. (Appendix 4, July 17, 2017 Medical Examiner's Certificate and Report, attached as Ex. B to Dkt. 39). On the same day, Fuson notified her supervisor Shelia Maloney that she had received the certification, and requested that her supervisor provide the email or fax number of the party to whom she was supposed to send it to be processed. (Appendix 5, Emails between Fuson and Sheila Maloney, attached as Ex. E to Dkt. 39; Appendix 3, 67:22-69:6). Despite Fuson's request, her supervisor did not provide the requested information. (*Id*).

On July 31, 2017, Fuson received notification from the TSA that her HAZMAT endorsement was eligible to be renewed. (Appendix 6, July 31, 2017 letter from TSA Re; HAZMAT endorsement, attached as Ex. D to Dkt. 39).

Thereafter, on September 12, 2017, Fuson renewed her Montana CDL. (Appendix 7, Fuson CDLs, attached as Ex. C to Dkt. 39).

On or around September 29, 2017, Fuson and CHS were advised that Fuson's request for long-term disability had been denied. (Appendix 3, 89:1-15). Also on September 29, 2017, Fuson again notified CHS that had a valid CDL and met the necessary requirements to perform her job as a driver/gauger, and requested to be placed on the schedule. (Appendix 8, September 29, 2017 email from Flaherty to Jennifer Punzel, attached as Ex. G to Dkt. 39).

Despite Fuson's September 29, 2017 letter, CHS did not place Fuson on the schedule, nor did it request additional information concerning her ability to return to work and perform the duties of her job. Instead, on October 3, 2017, it sent Fuson a letter terminating her employment. (Appendix 9, CHS's October 3, 2017 letter to Fuson terminating her employment, attached as Ex. A to Dkt. 39). CHS's purported reason for terminating her employment was that she was not medically qualified to drive a commercial motor vehicle due to perceived mental health issues. (*Id*).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Montana Supreme Court reviews a district court's grant of summary judgment de novo, applying the standard set forth in Rule 56 of the Montana Rules

of Civil Procedure. *Chriske v. State*, 2010 MT 149, ¶13, 357 Mont. 28, ¶13, 235 P.3d 588, ¶13.

In order to be granted summary judgment, the moving party must first "demonstrate the complete absence of any genuine issue of material fact." D'Agostino v. Swanson, 240 Mont. 435, 442, 784 P.2d 919, 924 (1990). Summary judgment should not be granted where genuine issues of material fact are present. "It is well established that when material facts are in dispute, summary judgment is not a proper remedy." Sprunk v. First Bank System, 252 Mont. 463, 466, 830 P.2d 103, 105 (1992). If the moving party can demonstrate no genuine issues of material fact, it must then also demonstrate that it is entitled to judgment as a matter of law before it can be granted summary judgment. Fisch v. Mont. Rail Link, Inc., 315 Mont. 13, 16, 67 P.3d 267, 268 (2003). Summary judgment should not be granted easily, as summary judgment should "never be substituted for a trial if a material factual controversy exists." Fisch, 315 Mont. at 16, 67 P.3d at 268 (citing *Boyes v. Eddie*, 292 Mont. 152, 970 P.2d 91 (1998).)

In motions for summary judgment, "the evidence must be viewed in the light most favorable to the non-moving party". *Fisch*, 315 Mont. at 17, 67 P.3d at 269 (citing *Mickelson v. Mont. Rail Link, Inc.*, 299 Mont. 348, 999 P.2d 298). Additionally, all reasonable inferences that may be drawn from the offered proof must be drawn in favor of the party opposing summary judgment. *D'Agostino*, 240 Mont. at 442, 784 P.2d at 924 (citing *Cereck v. Albertson's, Inc.*, 195 409, 411, 637 P.2d 509, 510-11 (1981)).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The District Court erred in granting CHS summary judgment dismissing Fuson's claims. Contrary to the District Court decision, at the time of her termination Fuson held the necessary medical certifications and was an otherwise qualified individual under the ADA and the MHRA. Similarly, her wrongful discharge and implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing claims did not rely upon allegations of a discriminatory termination; therefore, they were not barred by the exclusivity provisions of the Montana Human Rights Act. Lastly, while perhaps inartfully pled, Fuson's timely-filed complaint before the Montana Human Rights Bureau put CHS on notice that she alleged a gender discriminatory termination of her employment, in addition to other allegations. Therefore, her claim was not time-barred.

ARGUMENT

I. The District Court erred in granting CHS summary judgment dismissing Fuson's disability discrimination claim, as Fuson held the necessary certifications and informed CHS of the same, and Fuson established that she was an otherwise qualified individual under the ADA and the MHRA.

A prima facie case of employment discrimination is established by the

plaintiff showing that: (1) she is disabled; (2) she is an otherwise qualified

individual able to perform the essential functions of the job with or without a reasonable accommodation; and (3) she suffered an adverse employment action because of her disability. *Samper v. Providence St. Vincent Med. Ctr.*, 675 F.3d 1233, 1237 (9th Cir. 2012) (citations and alterations in original omitted). In this present case, the District Court's sole grounds for granting summary judgment dismissing Fuson's disability discrimination claims is its erroneous conclusion that Fuson could not establish the second prong – that she was an otherwise qualified individual – because she did not hold a current DOT medical certification. However, the material facts before the District Court clearly established that Fuson held the necessary DOT medical certification at the time of her termination, and therefore was an otherwise qualified individual.

As of both October 3, 2017 – the date of CHS's letter terminating her employment – and September 29, 2017 – CHS's stated effective date of her termination – Fuson held all necessary certifications. Despite CHS's statements to the contrary, Fuson had a valid Medical Examiner's Certification and Card as required under 49 CFR 391.41, and received the same on July 17, 2017. (Appendix 4). Fuson's Medical Examiner's Certification and Report Form established that she was qualified and met the standards of 49 CFR 391.41 as of July 17, 2017. Furthermore, she held a valid CDL throughout her employment with CHS, including at the time of her termination, as well as the needed HAZMAT endorsement. (Appendix 6 and 7).

Furthermore, Fuson notified her supervisor that she had accomplished her DOT physical as of July 17, 2017. (Appendix 5). In doing so, Fuson directly asked for the email or fax number were the medical certification needed to be sent, as she understood that the long form was not supposed to be presented to her supervisor, but instead is presented to an independent company – Global Safety Network – as admitted to by CHS. (*Defendant CHS Inc.'s Brief in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment*, pg. 9, Dkt. 29). Despite Fuson's request for the contact information of the independent company, her supervisor refused to give it to her.

Fuson again notified CHS of her ability meet the qualifications necessary to perform her job duties on September 29, 2017, when her counsel contacted CHS requesting that Fuson be placed back on the schedule and notifying CHS that Fuson had a valid CDL. (Appendix 8). Interestingly, it was only on October 9, 2017, after CHS had terminated her employment, that it gave Fuson the contact information to Global Safety Network so that she could send the certification into the proper party. (Appendix F).

Both CHS and the District Court state that CHS was not obligated to rescind its termination decision after Fuson belatedly provided the medical documentation, citing to *Jackson v. Costco Wholesale Corp.*, 2018 MT 262, 393 Mont. 191, 429 P.3d 641, in support of this argument. However, *Jackson* is entirely distinguishable from this matter. In *Jackson*, the employee was terminated for bad behavior, and only after his termination did the employee provide the employer information that about his disability and that the bad behavior was caused by his disability. *Jackson*, 2018 MT 262, ¶¶ 5-8, 10, 393 Mont. 191, 429 P. 3d 641. In contrast, Fuson was not belated in providing CHS with information demonstrating that she possessed the necessary medical certifications and qualifications, providing the same on July 17, 2017 and again on September 29, 2017, both before CHS's October 3, 2017 letter terminating Fuson's employment.

To the extent CHS required more information than what was given by Fuson, it was required to request the same instead of simply terminating her employment. The ADA – and by extension the MHRA – require the parties to engage in an interactive process when faced with an employee with a disability as defined by these acts, including cases in which the employee is perceived to be disabled. See *Reinhardt v. BNSF Railway Company*, 2019 WL 3283131, at *4 (D. Mont. 2019 – CV 10-27-H-CCL); *Bishop v. Wilke*, 2021 WL 1339504, at *2 (E.D. Mich. 2021 – 2:19-cv-13552-APP). The interactive process includes, among other things, direct communication between the employer and employee to explore in good faith the existence of a potential disability and any needed accommodation. See Anthony v. Tax Int'l Corp., 955 F.3d 1123, 1134 (9th Cir. 2020); EEOC v. UPS Supply Chain Sols., 620 F.3d 1103, 1110 (9th Cir. 2010).

So important is the employer's obligation to engage in the interactive process in good faith that "it cannot prevail at the summary judgment stage if there is a genuine dispute as to whether the employer engaged in good faith in the interactive process." *Anthony*, 955 F.3d at 1134. Furthermore, "[a] party that fails to communicate, by way of initiation or response, may [] be acting in bad faith." *Beck v. Univ. of Wis. Bd. Of Regents*, 75 F.3d 1130, 1135 (7th Cir. 1996). Similarly, "[a] party that obstructs or delays the interactive process is not acting in good faith." *Id.*

In the present case, Fuson provided CHS with information demonstrating that she was able and medically certified to return to work and perform the duties of her position, informing them that she had her required medical certification and requesting the mailing information for Global Safety Network, the independent party that processes the medical certifications for CHS. CHS and the District Court allege that Fuson was required to provide the certification to CHS prior to her termination. However, after Fuson provided her information, CHS did not provide Fuson with the contact information of this independent party, despite her request for the contact information. In fact, it only provided her the information after it terminated her for not providing the same. As such, CHS acted in bad faith, insuring it got the result it wanted, i.e., termination of Fuson's employment because of her perceived disability. If it required the additional information, it could not sit in silence hoping that Fuson would not provide the additional information prior to her termination. Such actions constitute a bad faith failure to engage in the interactive process. *Beck*, 75 F.3d at 1135.

Additionally, both CHS and the District Court erroneously argue that 49 CFR 391.47 works to both establish that Fuson cannot be a qualified individual as a matter of law, and that her claims are barred. However, both of these arguments must fail.

49 CFR 391.47 applies in situations in which an employer disputes and will not accept a medical certification provided by the employee, and requires the employee to follow certain administrative steps in such a situation. However, the evidence in this case demonstrates that CHS would not dispute the medical certification provided by Fuson. For instance, Craig Fish – a CHS supervisor – encouraged Fuson to get a second opinion, and informed Fuson that CHS did not rely solely upon opinions provided by Dr. Rost. (Appendix 3, 65:16-21). Additionally, when notified that Fuson received the medical certification, Fuson's immediate supervisor at CHS never indicated that CHS would not accept the same. As such, 49 CFR 391.47 did not require Fuson to complete the administrative steps set forth therein in order for her to become medically certified.

Additionally, the argument that Fuson's claim is barred because she did not exhaust the administrative procedures set forth in 49 CFR 391.47 must fail. Such an argument constitutes an affirmative defense. See *Marshall v. Gordon Trucking, Inc.*, 215 F. Supp. 3d 1036, 1040 (D. Or. 2016). As such, it must be raised in the answer or it is waived. M. R. Civ. P. 8(c). A review of CHS's *Answer to Complaint and Jury Demand* demonstrates that this affirmative defense was not raised by CHS. (See Dkt. 4).

Lastly, as recognized by the Montana Department of Transportation, a CDL cannot be maintained without a valid and current Medical Examiner's Certificate. (See MT DOJ – CDL Medical Certification Webpage,

https://dojmt.gov/driving/medical-certification/). Given that Fuson held a valid and current CDL at the time of her termination, the facts before the District Court establish that Fuson had the necessary qualifications for her position, and CHS had notice of the same.

As demonstrated above, Fuson held the necessary DOT medical certification required for her position as driver/gauger. As such, she has provided facts establishing that she was an otherwise qualified individual, satisfying the second prong of her prima facie disability discrimination claim. Therefore, the District Court's order dismissing her disability discrimination claim was in error, and this case should be remanded for a trial on the merits of the claim. II. The District Court erred in granting CHS summary judgment dismissing Fuson's wrongful discharge and implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing claims, as they are separate and distinct from her discrimination claims and not barred by the Montana Human Rights Act.

Fuson's wrongful discharge and breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing claims can be established separate from – and without needing to establish – discrimination on the part of CHS. Therefore, she is not barred by the exclusivity provisions of the Montana Human Rights Act from bringing these claims. As this was the sole basis for the District Court granting the Defendant's *Motion* and dismissing Fuson's claims, its *Order* was in error and should be reversed.

As held by the Montana Supreme Court in *Vettel-Becker v. Deaconess Medical Center of Billings, Inc.*, 2008 MT 51, ¶39, 341 Mont. 435, 177 P.3d 1034, if a plaintiff's wrongful discharge from employment act ("WDEA") claim does not rest or depend upon establishing discrimination, it is not barred by the exclusivity provisions of the Montana Human Rights Act ("MHRA") and the claim can go forward, even when the plaintiff has also raised allegations of discrimination. In *Vettel-Becker*, the plaintiff raised both a discrimination in employment claim under the MHRA, alleging discrimination on the basis of marital status, gender and religion, as well a wrongful discharge claim under the WDEA. 2008 MT 51, ¶¶23-24. In determining that Vettel-Becker's WDEA claim was not barred by the

exclusivity provision of the MHRA, the Court recognized that Vettel-Becker offered facts, completely aside from any allegations of discrimination, which negated the employer's proffered good cause for terminating his employment. *Id* at ¶¶34, 38-39.

Fuson's WDEA and breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing claims are indistinguishable from the plaintiff's claim in *Vettel-Becker*. Just like the plaintiff in *Vettel-Becker*, Fuson has provided the Court with facts negating CHS's proffered good cause for terminating her employment. CHS's proffered reason for terminating her employment is that she did not possess the certifications required for her position as a driver/gauger for CHS. However, the evidence disproves those reasons, as Fuson held both a valid CDL and medical certification/medical card prior to CHS issuing its October 3, 2017 letter terminating her employment. (Appendix 4, 6 and 7).

Furthermore, the present situation is entirely distinguishable from the situation *Harrison v. Chance*, 244 Mont. 215, 797 P.2d 200 (1990), the case cited and analyzed by the District Court in support of its ruling. In *Harrison*, the employee was subjected to unwanted sexual advances from her employer, which culminated in a demand that the employee either "put out or get out." *Id*, 244 Mont. 215, 218, 797 P.2d 200, 202. The employee responded to the demand by resigning from her employment. *Id*. The employee filed a tort action against the

employer; however, it was dismissed with the district court reasoning that the Montana Human Rights Act provided the exclusive remedy for actions based on sexual harassment. *Id.* The Court upheld the district court's order. *Id*, 244 Mont. 215, 223, 797 P.2d 200, 205.

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