06/28/2023

Bowen Greenwood
CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT
STATE OF MONTANA

Case Number: DA 23-0094

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA Supreme Court Case No. DA 23-0094

CINDY FUSON,

Plaintiff/Appellant,

V.

CHS INC., and DOES 1-5,

Defendant/Appellee.

Appeal from the Montana Ninth Judicial District Court, Toole County
Cause No. DV-18-044
The Honorable Robert Olson, Presiding

APPELLEE'S RESPONSE BRIEF

John G. Crist Crist, Krogh, Alke & Nord, PLLC 2708 First Avenue North, Suite 300 Billings, MT 59101 jcrist@cristlaw.com

Attorney for Appellee

Torrance L. Coburn
Tipp Coburn & Associates, PC
2200 Brooks Street
P.O. Box 3778
Missoula, MT 59806-3778
torrance@tcsattorneys.com

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

(f) Status of driver. Once an application is submitted to FMCSA [Federal Motor Carrier Safety Administration] (MC-PS), the driver shall be deemed disqualified until such time as FMCSA (MC-PS) makes a determination, or until FMCSA(MC-PS) orders otherwise.

49 C.F.R § 391.47(f) (emphasis added).

Even if Fuson had given CHS the Kalispell Form, the existence of this opinion did not render Fuson medically qualified to drive. Just the opposite is true. She was "deemed disqualified" as a matter of law until the disputed medical certifications were reviewed by the Federal Motor Carrier Safety Administration, and it determined whether she was medically qualified. 49 C.F.R § 391.47(f). There is no evidence in the record that Fuson ever initiated this process, even now some five years later. As a result, as of September 29, 2017, Fuson could not establish the second element of her prima facie case – that she was otherwise

qualified for continued employment – because she was deemed disqualified as a matter of law.

During oral argument, the District Court inquired whether CHS had an obligation to initiate the DOT appeal process described in 49 C.F.R § 391.47(c)-(e). Transcript, p. 24:17 to 26:14. In response, counsel for CHS told the Court that CHS was unaware of any cases that say that. In fact, courts have considered whether it is the obligation of the employer or the employee to invoke the dispute resolution process contained in 49 C.F.R § 391.47. They have determined that, in the context of an ADA case, the party who has the burden to prove that the employee is a qualified for continued employment is the party with the obligation to seek a resolution of the dispute under 49 C.F.R § 391.47.

In *Williams v. J.B. Hunt Transp., Inc.*, 826 F.3d 806 (5th Cir. 2016), the Court addressed whether an employer violates the ADA by refusing to allow an employee to drive a commercial motor vehicle when the employer has two contradictory medical opinions as to the employee's medical qualifications. The employer, J.B. Hunt, moved for summary judgment on the grounds that Williams could not establish a prima facie case of disability discrimination, because he was not qualified for the job. *Williams*, 826 F. 3d at 810-11. The Court held:

Thus, "courts have consistently held that an employment action based upon an employee's or prospective employee's inability to satisfy DOT medical standards does not violate disability discrimination laws." *Talbot v. Md. Transit Admin.*, No. WMN–12–1507, 2012 WL

5839945, at *2 (D. Md. Nov. 15, 2012). Otherwise, motor-carrier employers would face the dilemma of risking ADA liability or violating the DOT's command that "a motor carrier shall not ... permit a person to drive a commercial motor vehicle unless that person is qualified" under the agency's safety regulations. See 49 C.F.R. § 391.11. Applying this logic and recognizing the DOT's greater expertise in applying its medical-certification regulations, three sister circuits have rejected commercial drivers' ADA claims when, as here, a doctor found the plaintiff medically unqualified and the plaintiff did not obtain a contrary opinion through the DOT's administrative process.

Id. at 811.

The Court also considered who was required to initiate the DOT's administrative appeals process. It stated:

Williams also contends that "[e]ven if 49 C.F.R. § 391.47 were applicable ... it was [J.B. Hunt] who should have filed an appeal with the DOT." But he cites no authority supporting this argument, which conflicts with the three circuit cases cited above. And another court has sensibly reasoned that "the party that bears the burden of proof on the issue of whether the driver is qualified is the party that carries the burden of seeking a determination from the DOT regarding medical qualification." *Estate of Szleszinski v. Labor & Indus. Review Comm'n*, 304 Wis. 2d 258, 736 N.W. 2d 111, 123 (2007)(citing Bay, 212 F. 2d at 973-74). Here, that party is Williams.

Williams, at 813, FN 7.

In *Estate of Szleszinski*, 304 Wis. 2d 258, 282, 736 N.W. 2d 111, 123 (2007), the court held that the employer was required to initiate the DOT appeals process because under Wisconsin law the employer has the burden to prove the employee was not qualified. In Montana, the burden of proof is the opposite of that in Wisconsin and it is the same as the ADA burden of proof applied in *Williams*. In

Montana the employee has the duty to prove that "she was otherwise qualified for continued employment" as part of her prima facie case. *Reeves*, ¶21. Thus, under *Williams* and the cases cited therein, Fuson had the obligation to initiate the DOT appeals process if she wished to challenge whether she was medically qualified to drive for CHS. Because she did not, as a matter of law, Fuson was and still is medically unqualified for a driver position at CHS.

Finally, Fuson argues that the Court should not consider her failure to use the DOT appeal process, because CHS did not raise this failure as an affirmative defense. Fuson Appeal Brief, p. 12. Fuson, not CHS, had the burden to prove that she was otherwise qualified for continued employment as part of her prima facie case. *Reeves*, *Id*. As noted above, the existence of contradictory medical opinions renders Fuson disqualified as a matter of Federal law. 49 C.F.R § 391.47(f). CHS is not relying on Fuson's failure to engage in the appeals process as an affirmative defense. It is simply evidence that Fuson took no steps to alter the fact that she cannot prove a prima facie case because she is disqualified as a matter of law. ³

The Court should affirm the District Court Order granting summary judgment on the disability discrimination claim.

³ Fuson cited to *Marshall v. Gordon Trucking, Inc.*, 215 F. Supp. 3d 1036 (D. Ore. 2016). There, the Court followed recent Ninth Circuit law and held that, where a defendant pleads the defense of failure to exhaust administrative remedies as an affirmative defense, it "should normally be raised through a summary judgment motion . .". *Marshall*, 215 F. Supp. 3d at 1038. While CHS did not plead this as an affirmative defense, the result is the same. The application of the law to the undisputed facts requires dismissal of Fuson's discrimination claim.

B. The District Court Correctly Dismissed the Common Law Claims Because They are Based on the Same Facts as the Disability Discrimination Claim.

Fuson filed claims for wrongful discharge and breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing. The MHRA is the "exclusive remedy" for addressing unlawful discriminatory conduct under that Act. Mont. Code Ann. § 49-2-512(1). In fact, for over 40 years, it has been the law in Montana that, where the gravamen of the claim is discrimination, a plaintiff cannot assert alternative theories of relief, in addition to those that are available under the MHRA. *Harrison v. Chance*, 244 Mont. 215, 222-23, 797 P. 2d 200, 205 (1990).

The Court has repeatedly reaffirmed this core holding in *Harrison v*. *Chance*. In *Lay v*. *State Dept. Of Military Affairs*, 2015 MT 158, ¶15, 379 Mont. 365, 351 P. 3d 672, the Court noted that it "is no stranger to attempt to characterize a claim in such a way as to avoid the exclusive procedures set forth in the MHRA", and cited numerous cases in which it has declined to allow such recharacterization. ⁴

⁴ Edwards v. Cascade Cnty. Sheriff's Dep't, 2009 MT 451, 354 Mont. 307, 223 P.3d 893; Vettel—Becker v. Deaconess Med. Ctr. of Billings, Inc., 2008 MT 51, 341 Mont. 435, 177 P.3d 1034; Saucier v. McDonald's Rests. of Mont., Inc., 2008 MT 63, 342 Mont. 29, 179 P.3d 481; Arthur v. Pierre Ltd., 2004 MT 303, 323 Mont. 453, 100 P.3d 987; Shields v. Helena Sch. Dist. No. 1, 284 Mont. 138, 943 P.2d 999 (1997); Bruner v. Yellowstone Cnty., 272 Mont. 261, 900 P.2d 901 (1995); Fandrich v. Capital Ford Lincoln Mercury, 272 Mont. 425, 901 P.2d 112 (1995); Harrison v. Chance, 244 Mont. 215, 797 P.2d 200 (1990).

It is possible for a plaintiff to bring a discrimination claim and a wrongful discharge claim in the same case if there are separate factual predicates for each. Vettel-Becker v. Deaconess Medical Center of Billings, Inc., 2008 MT 51, ¶ 37, 341 Mont. 435, 177 P. 3d 1034. Fuson argues she has a distinct factual predicate for her common law claims, but utterly fails to articulate one.

On page 14 of her Appeal Brief, she describes the factual basis of her common law claims as follows:

CHS's proffered reason for terminating her employment is that she did not possess the certifications required for her position as a driver/gauger for CHS. However, the evidence disproves those reasons, as Fuson held both a valid CDL and medical card . . .

This is precisely the same factual basis relied upon by Fuson in support of her disability discrimination claim both before the MHRB:

14. Fuson notified the company that she was able to return to work, had a valid CDL and was cleared by a DOT-approved physical

* * *

- 18. Despite this, CHS erroneously determined that Fuson did not have a valid CDL and made this the basis for determination.
- 19. CHS illegally terminated Fuson because it perceived Fuson as disabled and used a false reason to terminate her.

Fuson App. 11, p. 4.

Likewise, in her District Court Brief opposing summary judgment, Fuson described the factual basis for her common law claims and for her disability

discrimination claim in essentially identical terms. As to her common law claims, she stated:

The Defendant's (sic) proffered reason for terminating her employment is that she did not possess the certifications required for her position as a driver/gauger for CHS. However, the evidence disproves those reasons, as Fuson held both a valid CDL and a medical certification/medical card . . .

Fuson Summary Judgment Brief at 5 (Dkt. 39). As to her disability discrimination claims, she stated "the grounds relied upon by the employer for termination are not disputed," and then articulated those grounds as follows:

CHS's brief on this matter demonstrates that its reason for terminating Fuson's employment was her perceived disability, as it states, 'Because Fuson had been determined to be medically unqualified to drive a commercial vehicle. . . , she was not qualified to work as a driver/gauger for CHS'.

Fuson District Court Brief at 7-8. (Dkt. 39).

Before the MHRB, in the District Court, and now before the Supreme Court, Fuson has described the factual basis of her common law claims and her disability discrimination claim in essentially identical terms. As such, she cannot rely upon *Vettel-Becker* to survive summary judgment as to her common law claims.

Finally, Fuson's Brief simply ignores the fact that she admitted in her deposition that the facts relied upon to support her common law claims are the same as the facts relied upon to support her discrimination claim. Fuson App. 3, 53:6-18. Fuson cannot admit the basis of the claims are the same, repeatedly

describe the basis of the respective claims in identical terms, and then just say that there is a distinct factual predicate for the common law claims. At every turn, Fuson has made it abundantly clear that the factual basis – the gravamen – of her common law claims are predicated on the exact same allegations as her disability discrimination claim. Under *Harrison v. Chance*, 244 Mont. at 222-23, 797 P. 2d at 205, and numerous cases decided since, she cannot bring her common law claims. The Court should affirm the District Court Order dismissing the claims for wrongful discharge and breach of the implied covenant of good faith and faith dealing.

C. The District Court Correctly Dismissed the Gender Discrimination Claims Because the Claim Fuson Made Before the MHRB is Barred by the Statute of Limitations and She Cannot Bring a New Claim for Termination Based on Gender for the First Time in District Court.

Fuson argues the Court erred by dismissing her gender discrimination claim because it was barred by the statute of limitations. Her argument is confusing at best, ignores the substance of her actual allegations before the MHRB, and disregards this Court's holding in *Borges v. Missoula Cnty. Sheriff's Office*, 2018 MT 14, ¶ 19, 390 Mont. 161, 415 P.3d 976.

In her MHRB Complaint, the sole allegations relating to gender discrimination were:

- 3. Fuson was the only female driver in the area.
- 4. Fuson was subject to a hostile work environment wherein a male

supervisor treated her disparately than other male drivers.

Fuson App. 11, p. 3.

In her deposition, Fuson was asked when the hostile work environment discrimination occurred:

- Q. Okay. Now, did this discrimination occur while you were driving truck for CHS?
 - A. Yes.

A. Yes.

Fuson App. 25:19 to 26:16 (emphasis added).

A complaint of discrimination is barred unless it is filed within 180 days of the unlawful discriminatory practice. Mont. Code Ann, §49-2-501(4)(a); *Skites v. Blue Cross Blue Shield of Montana*, 1999 MT 301, ¶18, 297 Mont. 156, 991 P. 2d 301 (summary judgment properly granted where discrimination claim filed 225 days after last discriminatory act). Fuson's Human Right Bureau Complaint was filed on February 6, 2018, more than a year after her last day of work (November 2, 2016), which was also the last possible day that any hostile work environment gender discrimination could possibly have occurred. As such, the gender discrimination claim is time-barred and must be dismissed.

Fuson tries to avoid the statute of limitations by focusing on the date she was terminated (September 29, 2017), rather than the last possible date that any hostile work environment discrimination occurred (November 2, 2016). Fuson Brief, p. 16. But this does not work, because there is **no** allegation in her MHRB claim that she was terminated because of her gender. Fuson concedes her claim was "inartfully pled," but suggests this is excused because Montana is a "notice pleading" state. This argument fails for two reasons.

First, Fuson's MHRB complaint did not give CHS any notice that she was claiming she had been terminated because of gender discrimination. She did not come close to giving the required "notice". As the Court said in *Anderson v. ReconTrust Co., N.A,* 2017 MT 313, ¶ 8, 390 Mont. 12, 407 P.3d 692:

The liberal notice pleading requirements of M. R. Civ. P. 8(a) and 12(b)(6) do "not go so far to excuse omission of that which is material and necessary in order to entitle relief," and the "complaint must state something more than facts which, at most, would breed only a suspicion" that the claimant may be entitled to relief. (citations omitted).

Moreover, notice pleading only works, because there is an opportunity for robust discovery after a claim is filed. *Conley v. Gibson*, 355 U.S. 41, 47–48 (1957), abrogated on other grounds by *Bell Atlantic Corp. v. Twombly*, 550 U.S. 544 (2007)("Such simplified 'notice pleading' is made possible by the liberal opportunity for discovery and the other pretrial procedures established by the Rules to disclose more precisely the basis of both claim and defense and to define more

narrowly the disputed facts and issues".) Here, Fuson's claim was dismissed at the conclusion of the MHRB Investigation. CHS has no opportunity to do any discovery to learn the basis of Fuson's "inartfully pled" claim.

Second, Montana law is clear that claims must be clearly asserted and adjudicated before the MHRB or they cannot be brought in District Court. The MHRA is the "exclusive remedy" for addressing unlawful discriminatory conduct under that Act. Mont. Code Ann. § 49-2-512. An alleged violation of the MHRA "may not be entertained by a district court other than by the procedures specified" in the MHRA. Mont. Code Ann. § 49-2-512(1). This statutory procedure requires a claimant to first file a complaint with the MHRB, and obtain an adjudication, before they are permitted to file a claim in district court. Borges v. Missoula Cnty. Sheriff's Office, 2018 MT 14, ¶ 19, 390 Mont. 161, 415 P.3d 976 (citing Griffith v. Butte Sch. Dist. No. 1, 2010 MT 246, ¶ 35, 358 Mont. 193, 244 P.3d 321) ("A party claiming discrimination may not file a claim in district court without first obtaining an adjudication of that claim by the HRB"). The failure to exhaust the administrative remedies set forth under the Act conclusively bars a claimant from bringing a claim in court. Jones v. Montana Univ. Sys., 2007 MT 82, ¶ 39, 337 Mont. 1, 155 P.3d 1247.

A plaintiff cannot raise a new factual claim in District Court which was not raised before the MHRB. The complaint must "state 'the particulars of the alleged

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